
LESSON #1: THE BEGINNINGS & THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION 
Slide #4: Fyrd 

Fyrd was a type of early Anglo-Saxon army that was mobilized from freemen to defend 
their shire, or from selected representatives to join a royal expedition. Service in the fyrd was 
usually of short duration and participants were expected to provide their own arms and 
provisions. The composition of the fyrd evolved over the years, particularly as a reaction to raids 
and invasions by the Vikings. 

Even after the Norman Conquest brought feudal institutions to England, the ancient Saxon 
tradition of the fyrd, or militia, which required every freeman between sixteen and sixty to bear 
arms in defense of his country, remained alive. In 1181 the English King Henry II declared in his 
Assize of Arms that every freeman should keep and “bear these arms in his [the king’s] service 
according to his order and in allegiance to the lord King and his realm.” 

Slide #5: Appearance of Gunpowder 

In the religious and dynastic wars of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, as mercenary 
armies came more and more to be national armies, various weapons employing gunpowder 
gradually replaced pike and halberd as the standard infantry weapons, and armor gradually 
disappeared from the bodies of both infantry and cavalry soldiers. At first, musketeers were 
employed alongside pikemen in square formations, the pikemen protecting the musketeers 
while they reloaded. 

Slide #6: Tactics Revolution 

By the time Sweden entered the brutal Thirty Years’ War on the Protestant side in 1630, he led a 
disciplined, capable army. Despite significant operational maneuvers and light skirmishes, it was 
not until the fall of 1631 that the Swedes fought their first major battle at Breitenfeld. Gustavus 
fought to defend his new allies – the Saxons – and commanded a multinational force. Though 
Gustavus’ force had the advantage of numbers, the battle would be decided by “discipline, 
firepower, and tactical flexibility.” 

The two sides fought very differently. The Imperialists did not combine arms. Only after a 
preliminary artillery bombardment did the Imperialist infantry advance in a single, deep line in 
the fashion of the Spanish tercios. The defending Swedes, however, fought in two thin lines of 
infantry with cavalry on the wings and light artillery integrated into the infantry formations. As the 
Imperialists attacked, they quickly broke the Saxon lines and threatened to envelop the Swedish 
left. However, the discipline, firepower, training, and tactical flexibility of the Swedish formation 
allowed Gustavus to pivot left and deliver withering combined arms fire into the attacking ranks. 
This flexibility also allowed the Swedish to eventually turn the Imperialist flank and win a 
decisive victory. Gustavus’ well-prepared, combined arms team devastated the opposing army, 
inflicting 13,600 casualties while only losing 2,200 of their own men. 

Gustavus Adolphus threw a wrench in 1600s European thinking by having a regular standing 
army that was well-trained, regularly drilled, armed with fine weaponry and were paid on time.  
He also redesigned his army to take advantage of newly acquired mobility that was afforded to 
him by the emerging innovation of gunpowder and modern firearms. While the European army 



model largely consisted of forming squares or, even older, lines of phalanxes several soldiers 
deep of mixed musketeers and pikemen, Adolphus formed whole regiments solely of 
musketeers. ​
​
He also adopted a new, lighter musket, thus eliminating the need for the gunner or an assistant 
to carry a forked pole to rest the firearm on.  He made paper cartridges standard in his army.  
He also drilled his men in the concept of rolling volley fire. This innovation was a regiment of 
musketeers, usually six lines deep that closed to three before engaging the enemy. The first 
rank would kneel the second would crouch and the third rank would stand all firing 
simultaneously. The rate of fire Adolphus was able to maintain on a battlefield surpassed other 
armies of the time largely because the Swedish king reduced the traditional European manual of 
arms from 160 movements for firing and reloading to 95. ​
​
Adolphus disregarded the big, cumbersome cannons favored by many leaders of his day and 
opted for lighter and maneuverable field-pieces that could be quickly moved to give fire where 
his infantry needed support at a particular time. This is a stark contrast to other European army 
models of the day, who fought in dense, slow maneuvering masses and tended to try to win a 
battle by numbers and brute force alone.  In this way, he ensured his portion of the battle space 
was not rendered static and motionless by fixing big artillery pieces in one spot that could not be 
maneuvered to support the foot soldiers. ​
​
Another innovation was a concept that today is dubbed “combined arms,” although in the 1620s 
the term didn’t exist. Gustavus Adolphus disregarded traditional pike squares common in 
European formations of the time and instead incorporated a thin pike wall in with his musketeer 
formations.  This innovation featured one pike for every few muskets, which was enough to 
keep enemy cavalry from decimating the infantry but still leaving the Swedish formation plenty 
of firepower to engage the enemy. Adolphus used this tactic until 1631, when he formed entire 
regiments comprised of nothing but musketeers. ​
​
The Swedish king also developed what today we call “cross-training.” Infantry and cavalry units 
alike were trained to fire artillery. His pikemen could pick up a musketeer’s weapon, load and 
fire it if need be. Artillery and infantry soldiers were all trained to ride, should the battlefield 
occasion demand it. In doing this, King Gustavus Adolphus ensured sub-unit integrity and unit 
cohesion throughout his army. The cavalry were not elevated above the infantry; rather, every 
soldier was cross-trained into other specialties to make for maximum efficiency on a fluid 
battlefield.  

Slide #7: Introduction of Rifling 

Barrel rifling was invented in Augsburg, Germany in 1498. In 1520 August Kotter, an armourer 
from Nuremberg, improved upon this work. Though true rifling dates from the mid-16th century, 
it did not become commonplace until the nineteenth century. 

The concept of stabilizing the flight of a projectile by spinning it was known in the days of bows 
and arrows, but early firearms using black powder had difficulty with rifling because of the 
fouling left behind by the dirty combustion of the powder. 



Slide #8: Artillery 

Round Shot 

In land battles, round shot would often plough through many ranks of troops, causing multiple 
casualties. Unlike the fake gunpowder explosions representing roundshot in movies, real 
roundshot was more like a bouncing bowling ball, which would not stop after the initial impact, 
but continue and tear through anything in its path. It could bounce when it hit the ground, 
striking men at each bounce. The casualties from round shot were extremely gory; when fired 
directly into an advancing column, a cannonball was capable of passing straight through up to 
forty men. Even when most of its kinetic energy is expended, a round shot still has enough 
momentum to knock men over and cause gruesome injury. 

When attacking wooden ships or land structures that would be damaged by fire, the cannonball 
could be heated to red hot. This was called a "heated shot".  

Round shot has the disadvantage of not being tightly fitted into the bore (to do so would cause 
jamming). This causes the shot to "rattle" down the gun barrel and leave the barrel at an angle 
unless wadding or a discarding sabot is used. This difference in shot and bore diameter is called 
"windage." 

Chain Shot 

In artillery, chain shot is a type of cannon projectile formed of two sub-calibre balls, or half-balls, 
chained together. Bar shot is similar, but joined by a solid bar. They were used in the age of 
sailing ships and black powder cannon to shoot masts, or to cut the shrouds and any other 
rigging of a target ship. 

When fired, after leaving the muzzle, the shot's components tumble in the air, and the 
connecting chain fully extends. In past use, as much as six feet of chain would sweep through 
the target. However, the tumbling made both bar and chain shot less accurate, so they were 
used at shorter ranges. 

Chain shot was sometimes used on land as an anti-personnel load. It was used by the 
defenders of Magdeburg in May 1631 as an anti-personnel load, which, according to counselor 
Otto von Guericke, was one reason for the extreme violence of the victorious attackers. It was 
also used against Parliamentarians in the first English Civil War, against the 76th Highlanders in 
India in 1803, by the French against the Dutch at the Battle of Waterloo, and by Union troops at 
the Battle of Gettysburg in the American Civil War. 

Canister Shot 

Canister shot consists of a closed metal cylinder typically loosely filled with round lead or iron 
balls packed with sawdust to add more solidity and cohesion to the mass and to prevent the 
balls from crowding each other when the round was fired. The canister itself was usually made 
of tin, often dipped in a lacquer of beeswax diluted with turpentine to prevent corrosion of the 
metal. Iron was substituted for tin for larger-calibre guns. The ends of the canister were closed 
with wooden or metal disks. 



A cloth cartridge bag containing the round's gunpowder used to fire the canister from the gun 
barrel could be attached to the back of the metal canister for smaller caliber cannon. A sabot of 
wood, metal, or similar material was sometimes used to help guide the round during firing from 
the cannon. 

Grape Shot 

In artillery, grapeshot is a projectile that is not one solid element, but a geometric arrangement 
of round shot packed tightly into a canvas bag and separated from the gunpowder charge by a 
metal disk of full bore diameter. It was used both in land and naval warfare. When assembled, 
the shot resembled a cluster of grapes, hence the name. On firing, the balls spread out from the 
muzzle, giving an effect similar to a giant shotgun. 

Grapeshot was devastatingly effective against massed infantry at short range, and was used 
against massed infantry at middle range. Solid shot was used at longer range and canister at 
shorter. When used in naval warfare, grapeshot served a dual purpose. First, it continued its 
role as an anti-personnel projectile. However, the effect was diminished due to a large portion of 
the crew being below decks and the addition of hammock netting in iron brackets intended to 
slow or stop smaller shot. Second, the balls were cast large enough to cut rigging, destroy spars 
and blocks, and puncture multiple sails. 

Slide #9: Linear Tactics 

The line formation is a standard tactical formation which was used in early modern warfare. It 
continued the phalanx formation or shield wall of infantry armed with polearms in use during 
antiquity and the Middle Ages. 

The line formation provided the best frontage for volley fire, while sacrificing maneuverability 
and defense against cavalry. It came to the fore during the Age of Reason, when it was used to 
great effect by Frederick the Great and his enemies during the Seven Years' War. The line 
formation was very successfully first used with combined arms in the Thirty Years War by the 
Swedish king Gustavus Adolphus the Great, at the Battle of Breitenfeld (1631). 

An infantry battalion would form "in line" by placing troops in several ranks, ranging in number 
from two to five, with three ranks being the most common arrangement. Each rank was 
approximately half a meter apart from the next, and soldiers in a rank were positioned closely to 
each other (usually within arm's length), with just enough room to present their weapons, fire, 
and reload. The line formation required that the troops be well-drilled and constantly supervised 
by officers and non-commissioned officers (NCOs). 

In 17th- and 18th-century European armies, NCOs were positioned to the rear of the line. They 
were equipped with long polearms, which they used to "dress" or arrange the ranks, a practice 
which included pushing down the weapons of any soldier who was aiming too high, as well as 
ensuring that the rank remained well-organized and correctly placed. Movement in line 
formation was very slow, and unless the battalion was superbly trained, a breakdown in 
cohesion was virtually assured, especially in any kind of uneven or wooded terrain. As a result, 
line was mostly used as a stationary formation, with troops moving in columns and then 
deploying to line at their destination. 



In addition, the line formation was extremely vulnerable to cavalry charges, from the flanks and 
rear, and these attacks usually resulted in the complete breakdown of cohesion and even 
destruction of the unit unless it was able to "form square". 

During the Napoleonic Wars, the British Army famously adopted a thin two-rank line formation. 
This was adopted to compensate for their lack of numbers and to maximize their fire frontage. 
The British continued to use a two-rank line until the late 19th century. The famous "Thin Red 
Line" of the 93rd (Highland) Regiment at the Battle of Balaklava successfully held against a 
Russian cavalry attack, a rare occurrence. 

A loose line formation called a skirmish line is used by many modern forces during assaults as it 
enables maximum firepower to be directed in one direction at once, useful when attacking an 
enemy position. It also enables the use of fire and movement. 

Slide #13: The Lost Colony 

The Roanoke Colony, also known as the Lost Colony, was the first attempt at founding a 
permanent English settlement in North America. It was established in 1585 on Roanoke Island 
in what is now Dare County, North Carolina, United States. The colony was sponsored by Sir 
Walter Raleigh, although he himself never set foot in it. 

The initial settlement was established in the summer of 1585, but a lack of supplies and bad 
relations with the local Native Americans caused many of its members to return to England with 
Sir Francis Drake a year later, leaving behind a small detachment. These men had all 
disappeared by the time a second expedition led by John White, who also served as the 
colony's governor, arrived in July 1587. White, whose granddaughter Virginia Dare was born 
there shortly thereafter (making her the first English child born in the New World), left for 
England in late 1587 to request assistance from the government, but was prevented from 
returning to Roanoke until August 1590 due to the Anglo-Spanish War. Upon his arrival, the 
entire colony was missing with only a single clue to indicate what happened to them: the word 
"CROATOAN" carved into a tree. 

For many years, it was widely accepted that the colonists were massacred by local tribes, but no 
bodies were ever discovered, nor any other archaeological evidence. The most prevalent 
hypothesis now is that environmental circumstances forced the colonists to take shelter with 
local tribes, but that is mostly based on oral histories and also lacks conclusive evidence. Some 
artifacts were discovered in 1998 on Hatteras Island where the Croatan tribe was based, but 
researchers could not definitively say these were from the Roanoke colonists. 

Slide #14: The First Colony 

The First Colony 

The Jamestown settlement in the Colony of Virginia was the first permanent English settlement 
in the Americas. It was located on the northeast bank of the James (Powhatan) River about 2.5 
mi (4 km) southwest of the center of modern Williamsburg. It was established by the Virginia 
Company of London as "James Fort" on May 4, 1607 and was considered permanent after a 
brief abandonment in 1610. It followed several failed attempts, including the Lost Colony of 



Roanoke, established in 1585 on Roanoke Island. Jamestown served as the colonial capital 
from 1616 until 1699. 

The settlement was located within the country of Tsenacommacah, which belonged to the 
Powhatan Confederacy, and specifically in that of the Paspahegh tribe. The natives initially 
welcomed and provided crucial provisions and support for the colonists, who were not 
agriculturally inclined. Relations quickly soured, and the colonists would annihilate the 
Paspahegh in warfare within four years. 

Despite the dispatch of more settlers and supplies, including the 1608 arrival of eight Polish and 
German colonists and the first two European women, more than 80 percent of the colonists died 
in 1609–10, mostly from starvation and disease. In mid-1610, the survivors abandoned 
Jamestown, though they returned after meeting a resupply convoy in the James River. 

Due to the high cost of the trans-atlantic voyage at this time, many English settlers came to 
Jamestown as indentured servants: in exchange for the passage, room, board, and the promise 
of land or money, these immigrants would agree to work for three to seven years. Immigrants 
from continental Europe, mainly Germans, were usually redemptioners—they purchased some 
portion of their voyage on credit and, upon arrival, borrowed or entered into a work contract to 
pay the remainder of their voyage costs.  Along with European indentured servants, around 20 
African slaves arrived in Jamestown in 1619. These slaves were captives taken from a ship 
headed for Mexico. Though these Africans started in Jamestown as slaves, some were able to 
obtain the status of indentured servant later in life. 

John Smith 

John Smith (6 January 1580 – 21 June 1631) was an English soldier, explorer, colonial 
governor, Admiral of New England, and author. He played an important role in the establishment 
of the Jamestown colony, the first permanent English settlement in North America, in the early 
17th century. Smith was a leader of the Virginia Colony based at Jamestown between 
September 1608 and August 1609, and led an exploration along the rivers of Virginia and the 
Chesapeake Bay, during which he became the first English explorer to map the Chesapeake 
Bay area. Later, he explored and mapped the coast of New England.  

When Jamestown was established in 1607, Smith trained the first settlers to farm and work, thus 
saving the colony from early devastation. He publicly stated "He that will not work, shall not eat", 
equivalent to the 2nd Thessalonians 3:10 in the Bible. Harsh weather, lack of food and water, 
the surrounding swampy wilderness, and attacks from locals almost destroyed the colony. With 
Smith's leadership, however, Jamestown survived and eventually flourished. Smith was forced 
to return to England after being injured by an accidental explosion of gunpowder in a canoe. 

Smith's books and maps were important in encouraging and supporting English colonization of 
the New World. He gave the name New England to the region that is now the Northeastern 
United States and noted: "Here every man may be master and owner of his owne labour and 
land ... If he have nothing but his hands, he may ... by industries quickly grow rich." Smith died 
in London in 1631. 

Pocahontas 



Pocahontas (1596 – March 1617) was a Native American woman notable for her association 
with the colonial settlement at Jamestown, Virginia. She was the daughter of Powhatan, the 
paramount chief of a network of tributary tribes in the Tsenacommacah, encompassing the 
Tidewater region of Virginia. She saved the life of Colonist John Smith in 1607, who was being 
held captive by her tribe, by placing her head upon Smith's when her father raised his war club 
to execute him. 

Pocahontas was captured and held for ransom by the Colonists during hostilities in 1613. 
During her captivity, she converted to Christianity and took the name Rebecca. When the 
opportunity arose for her to return to her people, she chose to remain with the Colonists. She 
married tobacco planter John Rolfe in April 1614 at age 17, and she bore their son Thomas 
Rolfe in January 1615. 

In 1616, the Rolfes travelled to London where Pocahontas was presented to English society as 
an example of the "civilized savage" in hopes of stimulating investment in the Jamestown 
settlement. She became something of a celebrity, was elegantly fêted, and attended a masque 
at Whitehall Palace. In 1617, the Rolfes set sail for Virginia, but Pocahontas died at Gravesend 
of unknown causes, aged 20 or 21. She was buried in St George's Church, Gravesend in 
England, but her grave's exact location is unknown, as the church has been rebuilt. 

Slide #15: The Colonies 

The Colonies 

The Plymouth Council for New England sponsored several colonization projects, culminating 
with Plymouth Colony in 1620 which was settled by English Puritan separatists, known today as 
the Pilgrims. The Dutch, Swedish, and French also established successful American colonies at 
roughly the same time as the English, but they eventually came under the English crown. The 
Thirteen Colonies were complete with the establishment of the Province of Georgia in 1732, 
although the term "Thirteen Colonies" became current only in the context of the American 
Revolution.   

With no army from home to protect them, English settlers in America had to provide for their 
own defense. Initially, this was done at the local level; but on December 13, 1636, the 
Massachusetts Bay colony organized its disparate militia companies into three regionally based 
regiments. This date is considered the birthday of what would eventually become the U.S. 
National Guard. The picture depicts the first muster of the colony’s East First Muster, Don 
Troiani, 1985 Regiment. 

Slide #16: Bacon’s Rebellion 

Bacon's Rebellion was an armed rebellion in 1676 by Virginia settlers led by Nathaniel Bacon 
against the rule of Governor William Berkeley. The colony's dismissive policy as it related to the 
political challenges of its western frontier, along with other challenges including leaving Bacon 
out of his inner circle, refusing to allow Bacon to be a part of his fur trade with Native Americans, 
and attacks by the Doeg people, helped to motivate a popular uprising against Berkeley, who 
had failed to address the demands of the colonists regarding their safety. 



On July 30, 1676, Bacon and his army issued the "Declaration of the People".  The declaration 
criticized Berkeley's administration in detail. It leveled several accusations against Berkeley: 

1. that "upon specious pretense of public works [he] raised great unjust taxes upon the 
commonality"; 

2. advancing favorites to high public offices; 

3. monopolizing the beaver trade with the Native Americans; 

4. being pro-Native American. 

Thousands of Virginians from all classes (including those in indentured servitude) and races 
rose up in arms against Berkeley, attacking Native Americans, chasing Berkeley from 
Jamestown, Virginia, and ultimately torching the capital. The rebellion was first suppressed by a 
few armed merchant ships from London whose captains sided with Berkeley and the loyalists.  
Government forces from England arrived soon after and spent several years defeating pockets 
of resistance and reforming the colonial government to be once more under direct royal control. 

It was the first rebellion in the American colonies in which discontented frontiersmen took part (a 
somewhat similar uprising in Maryland involving John Coode and Josias Fendall took place 
shortly afterwards). The alliance between European indentured servants and Africans (many 
enslaved until death or freed), united by their bond-servitude, disturbed the ruling class. The 
ruling class responded by hardening the racial caste of slavery in an attempt to divide the two 
races from subsequent united uprisings with the passage 29 years later of the Virginia Slave 
Codes of 1705. While the farmers did not succeed in their initial goal of driving the Native 
Americans from Virginia, the rebellion did result in Berkeley being recalled to England. 

Slide #17: War of Jenkins Ear 

The War of Jenkins Ear 

The War of Jenkins' Ear (known as Guerra del Asiento in Spain) was a conflict between Britain 
and Spain lasting from 1739 to 1748, mainly in New Granada and the Caribbean, with major 
operations largely ended by 1742. Its unusual name, coined by British historian Thomas Carlyle 
in 1858, refers to an ear severed from Robert Jenkins, a captain of a British merchant ship. 
There is no evidence that supports the stories that the severed ear was exhibited before the 
British Parliament. 

The seeds of conflict began with the injury to Jenkins following the boarding of his vessel by 
Spanish coast guards in 1731, eight years before the war began. Popular response to the 
incident was tepid until several years later when opposition politicians and the British South Sea 
Company hoped to spur outrage against Spain, believing that a victorious war would improve 
Britain’s trading opportunities in the Caribbean.  Also ostensibly providing the impetus to war 
against the Spanish Empire was a desire to pressure the Spanish not to renege on the lucrative 
asiento contract, which gave British slavers permission to sell slaves in Spanish America.  
British attacks on Spanish possessions in Central America resulted in heavy casualties, 
primarily from disease. After 1742, the war was subsumed by the wider War of the Austrian 



Succession, which involved most of the powers of Europe. Peace arrived with the Treaty of 
Aix-la-Chapelle in 1748. 

Cartagena de Indias 

The largest action of the war was a major amphibious attack launched by the British under 
Admiral Edward Vernon in March 1741 against Cartagena de Indias, one of Spain's principal 
gold-trading ports in their colony of New Granada (today Colombia). Vernon's expedition was 
hampered by inefficient organization, his rivalry with the commander of his land forces, and the 
logistical problems of mounting and maintaining a major trans-Atlantic expedition. The strong 
fortifications in Cartagena and the able strategy of Spanish Commander Blas de Lezo were 
decisive in repelling the attack. Heavy losses on the British side were due in large part to 
virulent tropical diseases, primarily an outbreak of yellow fever, which took more lives than were 
lost in battle. 

On the evening of 19 April, the British mounted an assault in force upon Castillo San Felipe de 
Barajas. Three columns of grenadiers, supported by Jamaicans and several British companies, 
moved under cover of darkness, with the aid of an intense naval bombardment. The British 
fought their way to the base of the fort's ramparts where they discovered that the Spanish had 
dug deep trenches. This effectively rendered the British scaling equipment too short for the task. 
The British advance was stymied since the fort's walls had not been breached, and the ramparts 
could not be topped. Neither could the British easily withdraw in the face of intense Spanish fire 
and under the weight of their own equipment. The Spanish seized on this opportunity, with 
devastating effect. 

Reversing the tide of battle, the Spanish initiated a fixed bayonet charge at first light, inflicting 
heavy casualties on the British. The surviving British forces retreated to the safety of their ships. 
The British maintained a naval bombardment, sinking what remained of the small Spanish 
squadron (after Lezo's decision to scuttle some of his ships in an effort to block the harbor 
entrance). The Spanish thwarted any British attempt to land another ground assault force. The 
British troops were forced to remain aboard ship for a month, without sufficient reserves. With 
supplies running low, and with the outbreak of disease (primarily yellow fever), which took the 
lives of many on the crowded ships, Vernon was forced to raise the siege on 9 May and return 
to Jamaica. Six thousand British died while only one thousand Spanish perished. 

He learned that he had been elected MP for Ipswich. Vernon maintained his naval career for 
another four years before retiring in 1746. In an active Parliamentary career, Vernon advocated 
for improvements in naval procedures. He continued to hold an interest in naval affairs until his 
death in 1757.  Lawrence Washington survived the yellow fever outbreak, and eventually retired 
to Virginia. He named his estate Mount Vernon, in honour of his former commander. 

Slide #18: British Rule & Expansion Westward 

The Ohio Country 

In the 17th century, the area north of the Ohio River had been occupied by the 
Algonquian-speaking Shawnee and some Siouan language-speaking tribes. Around 1660, 
during a conflict known as the Beaver Wars, the Iroquois seized control of the Ohio Country, 



driving out the Shawnee and Siouans, such as the Omaha and Ponca, who settled further 
northwest and west. The Iroquois conquered and absorbed the Erie, who also spoke an 
Iroquoian language. The Ohio Country remained largely uninhabited for decades, and was used 
primarily as a hunting ground by the Iroquois.In the 1720s, a number of Native American groups 
began to migrate to the Ohio Country from the East, driven by pressure from encroaching 
colonists. By 1724, Delaware Indians had established the village of Kittanning on the Allegheny 
River in present-day western Pennsylvania. With them came those Shawnee who had 
historically settled in the east. Other bands of the scattered Shawnee tribe began to return to the 
Ohio Country in the decades that followed. A number of Seneca and other Iroquois also 
migrated to the Ohio Country, moving away from the French and British imperial rivalries south 
of Lake Ontario. The Seneca were the westernmost of the Iroquois nations based in New York.  
In the late 1740s and the second half of the 18th century, the British angled for control of the 
territory. In 1749, the British Crown, via the colonial government of Virginia, granted the Ohio 
Company a great deal of this territory on the condition that it be settled by British colonists. 

Improved economic conditions and easing of religious persecution in Europe made it more 
difficult to recruit labor to the colonies, and many colonies became increasingly reliant on slave 
labor, particularly in the South. The population of slaves in British North America grew 
dramatically between 1680 and 1750, and the growth was driven by a mixture of forced 
immigration and the reproduction of slaves. Slaves supported vast plantation economies in the 
South, while slaves in the North worked in a variety of occupations.  There were some slave 
revolts, such as the Stono Rebellion and the New York Conspiracy of 1741, but these uprisings 
were suppressed. 

Slide #19: The French and Indian Wars 

King Philip’s War 

King Philip's War was an armed conflict in 1675–1678 between Indian inhabitants of New 
England and New England colonists and their Indian allies. The war is named for Metacomet, 
the Wampanoag chief who adopted the name Philip because of the friendly relations between 
his father Massasoit and the Mayflower Pilgrims. The war continued in the most northern 
reaches of New England until the signing of the Treaty of Casco Bay in April 1678. 

Massasoit had maintained a long-standing alliance with the colonists. Metacom (1638–1676) 
was his younger son, and he became tribal chief in 1662 after Massasoit's death. Metacom, 
however, did not maintain his father's alliance between the Wampanoags and the colonists. The 
colonists insisted that the peace agreement in 1671 should include the surrender of Indian guns; 
then three Wampanoags were hanged for murder in Plymouth Colony in 1675 which increased 
the tensions. Colonial militia and Indian raiding parties spread over Massachusetts, Rhode 
Island, Connecticut, and Maine over the next six months. The Narragansetts remained neutral, 
but several individual Narragansetts participated in raids of colonial strongholds and militia, so 
colonial leaders deemed the Narragansetts to be in violation of peace treaties. They assembled 
the largest colonial army that New England had yet mustered, consisting of 1,000 militia and 
150 Indian allies, and Governor Josiah Winslow marshaled them to attack the Narragansetts in 
November 1675. They attacked and burned Indian villages throughout Rhode Island territory, 
culminating with the attack on the Narragansetts' main fort called the Great Swamp Fight. An 



estimated 150 Narragansetts were killed, many of them women and children, and the Indian 
coalition was then taken over by Narragansett sachem Canonchet. They pushed back the 
colonial frontier in Massachusetts Bay, Plymouth, and Rhode Island colonies, burning towns as 
they went, including Providence in March 1676. However, the colonial militia overwhelmed the 
Indian coalition and, by the end of the war, the Wampanoags and their Narragansett allies were 
almost completely destroyed. Metacom fled to Mount Hope where he was finally killed by the 
militia. 

The war was the greatest calamity to occur in seventeenth-century New England and is 
considered by many to be the deadliest war in the history of American colonization. In the space 
of little more than a year, 12 of the region's towns were destroyed and many more were 
damaged, the economy of Plymouth and Rhode Island Colonies was all but ruined and their 
population was decimated, losing one-tenth of all men available for military service. More than 
half of New England's towns were attacked by Indians.  King Philip's War began the 
development of an independent American identity. The New England colonists faced their 
enemies without support from any outside government or military, and this gave them a group 
identity separate and distinct from Britain. 

King William’s War 

King William's War (1688–1697) was the North American theater of the Nine Years' War 
(1688–97), also known as the War of the Grand Alliance or the War of the League of Augsburg. 
It was the first of six colonial wars fought between New France and New England along with 
their respective Native allies before France ceded its remaining mainland territories in North 
America east of the Mississippi River in 1763.  For King William's War, neither England nor 
France thought of weakening their position in Europe to support the war effort in North America.  
New France and the Wabanaki Confederacy were able to thwart New England expansion into 
Acadia, whose border New France defined as the Kennebec River in southern Maine. According 
to the terms of the 1697 Treaty of Ryswick that ended the Nine Years' War, the boundaries and 
outposts of New France, New England, and New York remained substantially unchanged. 

The war was largely caused by the fact that the treaties and agreements that were reached at 
the end of King Philip's War (1675–1678) were not adhered to. In addition, the English were 
alarmed that the Indians were receiving French or maybe Dutch aid. The Indians preyed on the 
English and their fears, by making it look as though they were with the French. The French were 
played as well, as they thought the Indians were working with the English. These occurrences, 
in addition to the fact that the English perceived the Indians as their subjects, despite the 
Indians' unwillingness to submit, eventually led to two conflicts, one of which was King William's 
War. 

Queen Anne's War (1702–1713)  

Queen Anne's War (1702–1713) was the second in a series of French and Indian Wars fought in 
England's Thirteen American Colonies. The belligerents were France, French colonists, and 
various Indian tribes versus England, English colonists, and various Indian tribes for control of 
the American continent; the War of the Spanish Succession was primarily fought in Europe. It is 
also known as the Third Indian War or as the Second Intercolonial War in France.  



King George’s War 

King George's War (1744–1748) is the name given to the military operations in North America 
that formed part of the War of the Austrian Succession (1740–1748).  It took place primarily in 
the British provinces of New York, Massachusetts Bay (which included Maine as well as 
Massachusetts at the time), New Hampshire (which included Vermont at the time), and Nova 
Scotia. Its most significant action was an expedition organized by Massachusetts Governor 
William Shirley that besieged and ultimately captured the French fortress of Louisbourg, on 
Cape Breton Island in Nova Scotia, in 1745.  The Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle ended the war in 
1748 and restored Louisbourg to France, but failed to resolve any outstanding territorial issues. 

Slide #20: The French and Indian War 

The French and Indian War (1754-1763) 

The French and Indian War (1754–1763) pitted the colonies of British America against those of 
New France, each side supported by military units from the parent country and by American 
Indian allies. At the start of the war, the French colonies had a population of roughly 60,000 
settlers, compared with 2 million in the British colonies.  The outnumbered French particularly 
depended on the Indians. 

The European nations declared a wider war upon one another overseas in 1756, two years into 
the French and Indian war, and some view the French and Indian War as being merely the 
American theater of the worldwide Seven Years' War of 1756–63; however, the French and 
Indian War is viewed in the United States as a singular conflict which was not associated with 
any European war. The name French and Indian War is used mainly in the United States, 
referring to the two enemies of the British colonists, while European historians use the term 
Seven Years' War, as do English-speaking Canadians. French Canadians call it Guerre de la 
Conquête ("War of the Conquest")or (rarely) the Fourth Intercolonial War. 

The British colonists were supported at various times by the Iroquois, Catawba, and Cherokee 
tribes, and the French colonists were supported by Wabanaki Confederacy member tribes 
Abenaki and Mi'kmaq, and the Algonquin, Lenape, Ojibwa, Ottawa, Shawnee, and Wyandot 
tribes. Fighting took place primarily along the frontiers between New France and the British 
colonies, from the Province of Virginia in the south to Newfoundland in the north. It began with a 
dispute over control of the confluence of the Allegheny River and Monongahela River called the 
Forks of the Ohio, and the site of the French Fort Duquesne in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The 
dispute erupted into violence in the Battle of Jumonville Glen in May 1754, during which Virginia 
militiamen under the command of 22-year-old George Washington ambushed a French patrol. 

In 1755, six colonial governors met with General Edward Braddock, the newly arrived British 
Army commander, and planned a four-way attack on the French. None succeeded, and the 
main effort by Braddock proved a disaster; he lost the Battle of the Monongahela on July 9, 
1755 and died a few days later. British operations failed in the frontier areas of the Province of 
Pennsylvania and the Province of New York during 1755–57 due to a combination of poor 
management, internal divisions, effective Canadian scouts, French regular forces, and Indian 
warrior allies. In 1755, the British captured Fort Beauséjour on the border separating Nova 
Scotia from Acadia, and they ordered the expulsion of the Acadians (1755–64) soon afterwards. 



Orders for the deportation were given by Commander-in-Chief William Shirley without direction 
from Great Britain. The Acadians were expelled, both those captured in arms and those who 
had sworn the loyalty oath to the King. Indians likewise were driven off the land to make way for 
settlers from New England. 

The British colonial government fell in the region of Nova Scotia after several disastrous 
campaigns in 1757, including a failed expedition against Louisbourg and the Siege of Fort 
William Henry; this last was followed by Indians torturing and massacring their colonial victims. 
William Pitt came to power and significantly increased British military resources in the colonies 
at a time when France was unwilling to risk large convoys to aid the limited forces that they had 
in New France, preferring to concentrate their forces against Prussia and its allies who were 
now engaged in the Seven Years' War in Europe. Between 1758 and 1760, the British military 
launched a campaign to capture French Canada. They succeeded in capturing territory in 
surrounding colonies and ultimately the city of Quebec (1759). The British later lost the Battle of 
Sainte-Foy west of Quebec (1760), but the French ceded Canada in accordance with the Treaty 
of Paris (1763). 

France also ceded its territory east of the Mississippi to Great Britain, as well as French 
Louisiana west of the Mississippi River to its ally Spain in compensation for Spain's loss to 
Britain of Spanish Florida. (Spain had ceded Florida to Britain in exchange for the return of 
Havana, Cuba.) France's colonial presence north of the Caribbean was reduced to the islands 
of Saint Pierre and Miquelon, confirming Great Britain's position as the dominant colonial power 
in America. 

Slide #21: Braddock’s Expedition 

Setting out from Fort Cumberland in Maryland on May 29, 1755, the expedition faced an 
enormous logistical challenge: moving a large body of men with equipment, provisions, and 
(most importantly, for attacking the forts) heavy cannons, across the densely wooded Allegheny 
Mountains and into western Pennsylvania, a journey of about 110 miles (180 km). Braddock had 
received important assistance from Benjamin Franklin, who helped procure wagons and 
supplies for the expedition. Among the wagoners were two young men who would later become 
legends of American history: Daniel Boone and Daniel Morgan. Other members of the 
expedition included Ensign William Crawford and Charles Scott. Among the British were 
Thomas Gage; Charles Lee, future American president George Washington, and Horatio Gates. 

The expedition progressed slowly because Braddock considered making a road to Fort 
Duquesne a priority in order to effectively supply the position he expected to capture and hold at 
the Forks of the Ohio, and because of a shortage of healthy draft animals. In some cases, the 
column was only able to progress at a rate of two miles (about 3 km) a day, creating Braddock's 
Road—an important legacy of the march—as they went. To speed up movement, Braddock split 
his men into a "flying column" of about 1,300 men which he commanded, and, lagging far 
behind, a supply column of 800 men with most of the baggage, commanded by Colonel Thomas 
Dunbar. They passed the ruins of Fort Necessity along the way, where the French and 
Canadians had defeated Washington the previous summer. Small French and Indian war bands 
skirmished with Braddock's men during the march. 



Meanwhile, at Fort Duquesne, the French garrison consisted of only about 250 regulars and 
Canadian militia, with about 640 Indian allies camped outside the fort. The Indians were from a 
variety of tribes long associated with the French, including Ottawas, Ojibwas, and Potawatomis. 
Claude-Pierre Pécaudy de Contrecœur, the Canadian commander, received reports from Indian 
scouting parties that the British were on their way to besiege the fort. He realised he could not 
withstand Braddock's cannon, and decided to launch a preemptive strike, an ambush of 
Braddock's army as he crossed the Monongahela River. The Indian allies were initially reluctant 
to attack such a large British force, but the French field commander Daniel Liénard de Beaujeu, 
who dressed himself in full war regalia complete with war paint, convinced them to follow his 
lead. 

By July 8, 1755, the Braddock force was on the land owned by the Chief Scout, Lieutenant John 
Fraser. That evening, the Indians sent a delegation to the British to request a conference. 
Braddock sent Washington and Fraser. The Indians asked the British to halt their advance so 
that they could attempt to negotiate a peaceful withdrawal by the French from Fort Duquesne. 
Both Washington and Fraser recommended this to Braddock but he demurred. 

On July 9, 1755, Braddock's men crossed the Monongahela without opposition, about 10 miles 
(16 km) south of Fort Duquesne. The advance guard of 300 grenadiers and colonials with two 
cannon under Lieutenant Colonel Thomas Gage began to move ahead. George Washington 
tried to warn him of the flaws in his plan—for example, the French and the Indians fought 
differently than the open-field style used by the British—but his efforts were ignored, Braddock 
insisted on fighting as "gentlemen". Then, unexpectedly, Gage's advance guard came upon the 
French and Indians, who were hurrying to the river, behind schedule and too late to set an 
ambush. 

In the skirmish that followed between Gage's soldiers and the French, the French commander, 
Beaujeu, was killed by the first volley of musket fire by the grenadiers. Although some 100 
French Canadians fled back to the fort and the noise of the cannon held the Indians off, 
Beaujeu's death did not have a negative effect on French morale; Jean-Daniel Dumas, a French 
officer, rallied the rest of the French and their Indian allies. The battle, known as the Battle of the 
Monongahela, or the Battle of the Wilderness, or just Braddock's Defeat, was officially begun. 
Braddock's force was approximately 1,400 men. The British faced a French and Indian force 
estimated to number between 300 and 900. The battle, frequently described as an ambush, was 
actually a meeting engagement, where two forces clash at an unexpected time and place. The 
quick and effective response of the French and Indians — despite the early loss of their 
commander — led many of Braddock's men to believe they had been ambushed. However, 
French documents reveal that the French and Indian force was too late to prepare an ambush, 
and had been just as surprised as the British. 

After an exchange of fire, Gage's advance group fell back. In the narrow confines of the road, 
they collided with the main body of Braddock's force, which had advanced rapidly when the 
shots were heard. The entire column dissolved in disorder as the Canadian militiamen and 
Indians enveloped them and continued to snipe at the British flanks from the woods on the sides 
of the road. At this time, the French regulars began advancing from the road and began to push 
the British back. 



Following Braddock's example, the officers kept trying to reform units into regular show order 
within the confines of the road, mostly in vain and simply providing targets for their concealed 
enemy. Cannon were used, but in such confines of the forest road, they were ineffective. The 
colonial militia accompanying the British took cover and returned fire. In the confusion, some of 
the militiamen who were fighting from the woods were mistaken for the enemy and fired upon by 
the British regulars. 

After several hours of intense combat, Braddock was shot off his horse, and effective resistance 
collapsed. Colonel Washington, although he had no official position in the chain of command, 
was able to impose and maintain some order and formed a rear guard, which allowed the 
remnants of the force to disengage. This earned him the sobriquet Hero of the Monongahela, by 
which he was toasted, and established his fame for some time to come. 

“We marched to that place, without any considerable loss, having only now and then a straggler 
picked up by the French and scouting Indians. When we came there, we were attacked by a 
party of French and Indians, whose number, I am persuaded, did not exceed three hundred 
men; while ours consisted of about one thousand three hundred well-armed troops, chiefly 
regular soldiers, who were struck with such a panic that they behaved with more cowardice than 
it is possible to conceive. The officers behaved gallantly, in order to encourage their men, for 
which they suffered greatly, there being near sixty killed and wounded; a large proportion of the 
number we had.“ 

Two-thirds of his officers fell dead or wounded. The militia, following their natural instincts, 
scattered and took positions behind trees; but there is no evidence they delivered any effective 
fire, since French and Indian losses for the day totaled only twenty-three killed and sixteen 
wounded. The few British cannon appear to have been more telling. Braddock, mortally 
wounded himself, finally attempted to withdraw his force in some semblance of order; but the 
retreat soon became a disordered flight. The panic stricken soldiers did not stop even when they 
reached the baggage wagons many miles to their rear. 

By sunset, the surviving British and colonial forces were fleeing back down the road they had 
built. Braddock died of his wounds during the long retreat, on July 13, and is buried within the 
Fort Necessity parklands. Of the approximately 1,300 men Braddock had led into battle, 456 
were killed and 422 wounded. Commissioned officers were prime targets and suffered greatly: 
out of 86 officers, 26 were killed and 37 wounded. Of the 50 or so women that accompanied the 
British column as maids and cooks, only 4 survived. The French and Canadians reported 8 
killed and 4 wounded; their Indian allies lost 15 killed and 12 wounded. 

Colonel Dunbar, with the reserves and rear supply units, took command when the survivors 
reached his position. He ordered the destruction of supplies and cannon before withdrawing, 
burning about 150 wagons on the spot. Ironically, at this point the defeated, demoralized and 
disorganised British forces still outnumbered their opponents. The French and Indians did not 
pursue and were engaged with looting and scalping. The French commander Dumas realized 
the British were utterly defeated, but he did not have enough of a force to continue organized 
pursuit. 



“Scarce an officer or soldier,” wrote one of the participants, “can say they ever saw at one time 
six of the Enemy and the greatest part never saw a single man.” 

Slide #22: Roger’s Rangers 

Slide #23: American Revolution  

Slide #24: The Outbreak 

The Townshed Acts 

The Townshend Acts placed an indirect tax on glass, lead, paints, paper and tea. These goods 
were not produced within the colonies and had to be imported from Britain. This form of 
generating revenue was Townshend's response to the failure of the Stamp Act, which served as 
the first form of direct taxation placed upon the colonies. However, the import duties proved to 
be similarly controversial. Colonial indignation over the Townshend Acts was predominantly 
driven by John Dickinson's anonymous publication of Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania, as 
well as the Massachusetts Circular Letter. As a result of widespread protest and non-importation 
of British goods in colonial ports, Parliament began to partially repeal the Townshend duties. In 
March 1770, most of the indirect taxes from the Townshend Acts were repealed by Parliament 
under Frederick Lord North. However, the import duty on tea was retained in order to 
demonstrate to the colonists that Parliament withheld the sovereign authority to tax its colonies 
an accordance with the Declaratory Act of 1766. The British government continued in its attempt 
to tax the colonists without their consent. Retaining the Townshend Acts' taxation on imported 
tea, re-enforced by the Tea Act of 1773, subsequently led to the Boston Tea Party in 1773, 
which in turn sparked the Intolerable Acts in 1774. The American Revolution soon followed. 

The Boston Massacre 

The Boston Massacre, known as the Incident on King Street by the British, was an incident on 
March 5, 1770, in which British Army soldiers shot and killed people while under attack by a 
mob. The riot was heavily publicized by leading Patriots, such as Paul Revere and Samuel 
Adams, to encourage rebellion against the British authorities. British troops had been stationed 
in Boston, capital of the Province of Massachusetts Bay, since 1768 in order to protect and 
support crown-appointed colonial officials attempting to enforce unpopular Parliamentary 
legislation. Amid ongoing tense relations between the population and the soldiers, a mob 
formed around a British sentry, who was subjected to verbal abuse and harassment. He was 
eventually supported by eight additional soldiers, who were subjected to verbal threats and 
repeatedly hit by clubs, stones and snowballs. They fired into the crowd, without orders, 
instantly killing three people and wounding others. Two more people died later of wounds 
sustained in the incident. 

The Boston Tea Party 

The Boston Tea Party was a political protest by the Sons of Liberty in Boston, Massachusetts, 
on December 16, 1773. In defiance of the Tea Act of May 10, 1773 the demonstrators, some 
disguised as Native Americans, destroyed an entire shipment of tea sent by the East India 
Company. They boarded the ships and threw the chests of tea into Boston Harbor. The British 
government responded harshly and the episode escalated into the American Revolution. The 



Tea Party became an iconic event of American history, and since then other political protests 
such as the Tea Party movement have referred to themselves as historical successors to the 
Boston protest of 1773. 

The Intolerable Acts 

The Intolerable Acts was the term used by American Patriots for a series of punitive laws 
passed by the British Parliament in 1774 after the Boston Tea Party. The laws were meant to 
punish the Massachusetts colonists for their defiance in the Boston Tea Party protest in reaction 
to changes in taxation by the British to the detriment of Colonial goods. In Great Britain, these 
laws were referred to as the Coercive Acts. 

Slide #25: The Battles of Lexington and Concord 

The Battles of Lexington and Concord  

The Battles of Lexington and Concord were the first military engagements of the American 
Revolutionary War. The battles were fought on April 19, 1775 in Middlesex County, Province of 
Massachusetts Bay, within the towns of Lexington, Concord, Lincoln, Menotomy, and 
Cambridge. They marked the outbreak of armed conflict between the Kingdom of Great Britain 
and its thirteen colonies in America. 

In late 1774, Colonial leaders adopted the Suffolk Resolves in resistance to the alterations made 
to the Massachusetts colonial government by the British parliament following the Boston Tea 
Party. The colonial assembly responded by forming a Patriot provisional government known as 
the Massachusetts Provincial Congress and calling for local militias to train for possible 
hostilities. The Colonial government exercised effective control of the colony outside of 
British-controlled Boston. In response, the British government in February 1775 declared 
Massachusetts to be in a state of rebellion. 

About 700 British Army regulars in Boston, under Lieutenant Colonel Francis Smith, were given 
secret orders to capture and destroy Colonial military supplies reportedly stored by the 
Massachusetts militia at Concord. Through effective intelligence gathering, Patriot leaders had 
received word weeks before the expedition that their supplies might be at risk and had moved 
most of them to other locations. On the night before the battle, warning of the British expedition 
had been rapidly sent from Boston to militias in the area by several riders, including Paul 
Revere, with information about British plans. The initial mode of the Army's arrival by water was 
signaled from the Old North Church in Boston to Charleston using lanterns to communicate "one 
if by land, two if by sea". 

The first shots were fired just as the sun was rising at Lexington. Eight militiamen were killed, 
including Ensign Robert Munroe, their ranking officer. The British suffered only one casualty. 
The militia were outnumbered and fell back, and the regulars proceeded on to Concord, where 
they broke apart into companies to search for the supplies. At the North Bridge in Concord, 
approximately 400 militiamen engaged 100 regulars from three companies of the King's troops 
at about 11:00 am, resulting in casualties on both sides. The outnumbered regulars fell back 
from the bridge and rejoined the main body of British forces in Concord. 



The British forces began their return march to Boston after completing their search for military 
supplies, and more militiamen continued to arrive from neighboring towns. Gunfire erupted 
again between the two sides and continued throughout the day as the regulars marched back 
towards Boston. Upon returning to Lexington, Lt. Col. Smith's expedition was rescued by 
reinforcements under Brigadier General Hugh Percy, a future duke of Northumberland known as 
Earl Percy. The combined force of about 1,700 men marched back to Boston under heavy fire in 
a tactical withdrawal and eventually reached the safety of Charlestown. The accumulated 
militias then blockaded the narrow land accesses to Charlestown and Boston, starting the Siege 
of Boston.  Ralph Waldo Emerson describes the first shot fired by the Patriots at the North 
Bridge in his "Concord Hymn" as the "shot heard round the world".  British Casualties 273 
American 9 

Bunker Hill 

Bunker Hill Late in May Gage received limited reinforcements from England, bringing his total 
force to 6,500 rank and file. With the reinforcements came three major generals of 
reputation—Sir William Howe, Sir Henry Clinton, and Sir John Burgoyne—men destined to play 
major roles in England’s loss of its American colonies. The newcomers all considered that Gage 
needed more elbow room and proposed to fortify Dorchester Heights, a dominant position south 
of Boston previously neglected by both sides. News of the intended move leaked to the 
Americans, who immediately countered by dispatching a force onto the Charlestown peninsula, 
where other heights, Bunker Hill and Breed’s Hill, overlooked Boston from the north. The original 
intent was to fortify Bunker Hill, the eminence nearest the narrow neck of land connecting the 
peninsula with the mainland, but the working party sent out on the night of June 16, 1775 
decided instead to move closer in and construct works on Breed’s Hill—a tactical blunder, for 
these exposed works could much more easily be cut off by a British landing on the neck in their 
rear. 

The British scorned such a tactic, making a conscious decision to try and stop the conflict short 
with a psychologically crushing demonstration of brute force. However, the British generals 
committed a critical error, having assumed that the assembled “rabble in arms” would 
disintegrate in the face of an attack by disciplined British regulars. On the seventeenth Gage 
ferried some 2,200 of his men under Howe over to the tip of the Charlestown peninsula under 
the cover of Royal Navy warships. Howe then sent his troops directly against the American 
positions, by this time manned by perhaps an equal force. Twice the British advanced on the 
front and flanks of the redoubt on Breed’s Hill; and twice the Americans, holding their fire until 
the compact British lines were at close range, decimated the ranks of the advancing regiments 
and forced them to fall back and re-form. With reinforcements Howe carried the hill on the third 
try, largely because the Americans had run short of ammunition and had no bayonets. The 
American retreat from Breed’s Hill was, for inexperienced volunteers and militia, an orderly one; 
and Howe’s depleted regiments were unable to prevent the escape. British casualties for the 
day totaled a staggering 1,054, almost half the force engaged, as opposed to American losses 
of about 440. 

Slide #27: The Formation of the Continental Army 



The creation of a truly American Army on June 14, 1775, was highly significant to the history of 
our emerging nation. While the colonial militias and volunteer Minutemen were easily aroused in 
anger and invaluable in controlling population and resources in the countryside, they often 
melted away as fast as they were raised. In addition, those forces often identified with their own 
state or region. However, the first ten companies of Continental Army soldiers were a national 
force even before the nation was fully formed. The first continentals were recruited from several 
states and were sent from one end of the thirteen colonies and then states to another. In time a 
nation would grow out of the seeds planted by each continental soldier as he signed up not as a 
“summer soldier” or “sunshine patriot,” to use the immortal words of Tom Paine, but as an 
American soldier in service to his nation whenever and wherever needed. 

Slide #28: The Invasion of Canada and Fall of Boston 

The Invasion of Canada  

The major military operations of 1775 and early 1776 were not around Boston but in faraway 
Canada, which the Americans considered the fourteenth colony needing only a little shove to 
join the others in rebellion against Britain. Canada seemed a tempting and vulnerable target. To 
take it would eliminate a British base at the head of the familiar invasion route along the lake 
and river chain connecting the St. Lawrence with the Hudson. Congress, while appealing to the 
Canadians to join in the cause, in late June 1775 instructed Maj. Gen. Philip Schuyler of New 
York to take possession of Canada if “practicable” and “not disagreeable to the Canadians.” 

Schuyler managed to get together a force of about 2,000 men from New York and Connecticut, 
thus forming the nucleus of what was to become known as the Northern Army. In September 
1775 Brig. Gen. Richard Montgomery set out with this small army from Ticonderoga with the 
objective of taking Montreal. To form a second prong to the invasion, Washington detached a 
force of 1,100 under Col. Benedict Arnold, including a contingent of riflemen under Capt. Daniel 
Morgan of Virginia, to proceed up the Kennebec River, across the wilds of Maine, and down the 
Chaudière to join with Montgomery before Quebec.  Montgomery, advancing along the route via 
Lake George, Lake Champlain, and the Richelieu River, was seriously delayed at the British fort 
at St. Johns but managed to capture Montreal on November 13. Arnold, meanwhile, had arrived 
opposite Quebec on November 8, after one of the most rugged marches in history. Part of his 
force had turned back, and others were lost by starvation, sickness, drowning, and desertion. 
Only 600 men crossed the St. Lawrence on November 13, and in imitation of Wolfe scaled the 
cliffs and encamped on the Plains of Abraham. It was a magnificent feat, but the force was too 
small to prevail even against the scattered Canadian militia and British regulars who, unlike 
Montcalm, shut themselves up in the city and refused battle in the open.  

Arnold’s men were finally forced to withdraw to Point aux Trembles, where Montgomery joined 
them with all the men he could spare from the defense of Montreal—a total of 300. Although the 
Canadians did raise two regiments for the Continental Army, most did not rally to the American 
cause. With the enlistments of about half their men expiring by the New Year, Arnold and 
Montgomery undertook a desperate assault on the city during the night of December 30 in the 
middle of a raging blizzard. The defenders outnumbered the Americans, and the attack was a 
failure. Montgomery was killed and Arnold wounded. 



The wounded Arnold, undaunted, continued to keep up the appearance of a siege with the 
scattered remnants of his force while he waited for reinforcements. Continental regiments raised 
in New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania came in driblets. There were never enough to build 
a force capable of again taking the offensive, though a total of 8,000 men were eventually 
committed to the Canadian campaign. Smallpox and other diseases took their toll; and the 
supply line never brought in adequate food, clothing, or ammunition. Meanwhile, the British 
received reinforcements and in June 1776 struck back against a disintegrating American army 
that retreated before them almost without a fight. By mid-July the Americans were back at 
Ticonderoga 

Fall of Boston  

Between November 1775 and February 1776, Colonel Henry Knox and a team of engineers 
used sledges to retrieve 60 tons of heavy artillery that had been captured at Fort Ticonderoga. 
Bringing them across the frozen Hudson and Connecticut rivers in a difficult, complex operation, 
they arrived back at Cambridge on January 24, 1776. 

While the effort to conquer Canada was moving toward its dismal end, Washington finally took 
the initiative at Boston. On March 4, 1776, he moved onto Dorchester Heights and emplaced his 
newly acquired artillery in position to menace the city; a few days later he fortified Nook’s Hill, 
standing still closer in. On March 17 the British moved out. It would be presumptuous to say that 
their exit was solely a consequence of American pressure. Sir William Howe, who succeeded 
Gage in command, had concluded long since that Boston was a poor strategic base and 
intended to stay only until the transports arrived to take his army to Halifax in Nova Scotia to 
regroup and await reinforcements. Nevertheless, Washington’s maneuvers hastened his 
departure, and the reoccupation of Boston was an important psychological victory for the 
Americans, balancing the disappointments of the Canadian campaign. The stores of cannon 
and ammunition the British were forced to leave behind were a welcome addition indeed to the 
meager American arsenal. 

Slide #29: The British Offensive in 1776 

The British Offensive in 1776 

If the British ever had a single strategic objective in the war, it was the Hudson River–Lake 
Champlain line. The British believed that by taking and holding this line they would separate 
New England, considered to be the principal center of the rebellion, from colonies they 
considered more malleable in the south. Howe proposed to make this the main objective of his 
campaign in 1776 by landing at New York, securing a base of operations there, and then 
pushing north. He wanted to concentrate the entire British force in America in New York, but the 
British government diverted part of it to Canada in early 1776 to repel the American invasion, 
laying the groundwork for the divided command that was so to plague British operations 
thereafter. 

Parker joined Lt. Gen. Henry Clinton, sent south by Howe, off the North Carolina coast. 
Undeterred by the local setbacks, they determined to attack Charleston, the largest city in the 
south. There, South Carolina militia and newly raised continentals from the Carolinas and 
Virginia had prepared and manned defenses under the guidance of Maj. Gen. Charles Lee, 



whom Washington had dispatched south to assist them. The South Carolinians, contrary to 
Lee’s advice, centered their defenses in Fort Moultrie, a palmetto log fort constructed on 
Sullivan’s Island, commanding the approach to the harbor. It was an unwise decision, somewhat 
comparable to that at Bunker Hill, but fortunately for the defenders the British had to mount an 
uncoordinated attack in haste. Clinton’s troops landed on nearby Long Island, but on the day the 
Navy attacked, June 28, the water proved too deep for them to wade across to Sullivan’s Island 
as expected. The British Army consequently sat idly by while the gunners in Fort Moultrie 
devastated the British warships. Sir Peter suffered the ultimate indignity when his pants were set 
afire. 

Battle of Long Island 

Washington decided he must defend Brooklyn Heights on Long Island if he was to defend 
Manhattan. He therefore divided his army between the two places—a violation of the principle of 
mass and the first step toward disaster. For all practical purposes, command on Long Island 
was also divided. Maj. Gen. Nathanael Greene, to whom Washington first entrusted the 
command, came down with malaria and was replaced by Maj. Gen. John Sullivan. Not 
completely satisfied with this arrangement, at the last moment Washington placed Maj. Gen. 
Israel Putnam over Sullivan; but Putnam hardly had time to become acquainted with the 
situation before the British struck. The forces on Long Island, numbering about 10,000, were 
disposed in fortifications on Brooklyn Heights and in forward positions in back of a line of thickly 
wooded hills that ran across the southern end of the island. Sullivan was in command on the left 
of the American forward line, Brig. Gen. William Alexander on the right. Four roads ran through 
the hills toward the American positions. Unfortunately Sullivan, in violation of the principle of 
security, left the Jamaica-Bedford road virtually unguarded. 

Howe consequently was able to teach the Americans lessons in maneuver and surprise. On 
August 22 he landed a force of 20,000 on the southwestern tip of Long Island and, in a surprise 
attack up the Jamaica-Bedford road against the American left flank, crumpled the entire 
American position. Alexander’s valiant fight on the right went for naught as some of the more 
inexperienced American units along the line fled in terror before the British and Hessian 
bayonets, falling back to the fortifications on Brooklyn Heights. Had Howe pushed his advantage 
immediately, he might have carried the heights and destroyed half of the American Army then 
and there. Instead, perhaps rendered cautious by his repulse the previous year at Bunker Hill, 
he halted at nightfall and began to dig trenches, signaling an intent to take the heights by 
“regular approaches” in traditional eighteenth century fashion. Washington managed to 
evacuate his forces across the East River on the night of August 29. According to one theory, 
wind and weather stopped the British warships from entering the river to prevent the escape; 
according to another, the Americans had placed impediments in the river that effectively barred 
their entry. In any case, it was a narrow escape, made possible in large measure by the skill, 
bravery, and perseverance of Col. John Glover’s Marblehead Regiment, infantrymen who had 
been recruited from Massachusetts fishing villages, who manned the boats. 

Tenton and Princeton 

While Howe rested comfortably in New York, he dispatched Clinton to capture Newport, Rhode 
Island, as a much-desired winter anchorage for the Royal Navy. Washington took advantage of 



this distraction. By the last week of December 1776, Washington had built up a small, but 
competent striking force of veteran regiments about 7,000 strong. If he was to use this force, he 
would have to do so before the enlistments expired on December 31. With great boldness, 
Washington formulated a plan to strike enemy garrisons along the Delaware River early on the 
twenty-sixth of December, when the troops might be expected to have relaxed their guard for 
holiday revelry. The plan was for American forces to cross the river simultaneously and conduct 
raids on the outposts at Trenton and Bordentown, each held by a reinforced brigade of Hessian 
soldiers. A Continental force of around 2,400 men under Washington’s personal command was 
to cross the Delaware at McConkey’s Ferry above Trenton and then proceed in two columns by 
different routes, converging on the opposite ends of the main street of Trenton in the early 
morning of December 26. A second force, mainly militia under Col. John Cadwalader, was to 
cross below near Bordentown to attack the Hessian garrison there. A third force, also militia, 
under Brig. Gen. James Ewing, was to cross directly opposite Trenton to block the Hessian 
route of escape across Assunpink Creek. 

Christmas night was cold, windy, and snowy; and the Delaware River was filled with blocks of 
ice. These adverse conditions prevented Cadwalader and Ewing from fulfilling their parts of the 
plan. Driven on by Washington’s indomitable will, the main force did cross as planned; the two 
columns, commanded respectively by Greene and Sullivan, converged on Trenton at eight 
o’clock in the morning of December 26, taking the Hessians completely by surprise. A New 
England private noted in his diary for that day: “This morning at 4 a clock we set off with our 
Field pieces and Marched 8 miles to Trenton where we ware attacked by a Number of Hushing 
and we Toock 1000 of them besides killed some. Then we marched back and got to the River at 
Night and got over all the Hushing.” This rather undramatic description of a very dramatic event 
was not far wrong, except in attributing the attack to the “Hushings.” The Hessians surrendered 
after a fight lasting only an hour and a half. Forty were killed, and the prisoner count was 918. 
Only 400 escaped to Bordentown, only because Ewing was not in place to block their escape. 
The Americans lost only 2 dead and 2 wounded, among the wounded being future President 
James Monroe.  

Slide #30: The Battle of Brandywine 

The Battle of Brandywine  

In the effort to defend Philadelphia, Washington again failed but hardly so ignominiously as he 
had the year before in New York. With American forts and a galley squadron blocking a direct 
advance up the Delaware River, in August Howe put most of his army on board ship and sailed 
down the coast and up the Chesapeake Bay to Head of Elk (now Elkton) in Maryland, putting 
himself even farther away from Burgoyne. Surprised by Howe’s movement, Washington did not 
oppose the landing but rapidly shifted his own force south and took up a position at Chad’s Ford 
on Brandywine Creek, blocking the approach to Philadelphia.  

There, on September 11, 1777, Howe executed a flanking movement reminiscent of his tactics 
on Long Island the previous year. He sent Lt. Gen. Wilhelm van Knyphausen’s largely Hessian 
column directly against the American position at Chad’s Ford to fix the American attention on 
that part of the battlefield. During the predawn darkness Howe and Lord Charles Cornwallis took 



the larger part of the British army north by back roads and crossed the Brandywine at 
unguarded lesser fords miles upstream, hoping to take Washington from the flank and rear.  

Confusing reports caused by inadequate reconnaissance befuddled MG John Sullivan, who 
commanded the American forces on that flank. Washington himself realized what was 
happening only at the eleventh hour. He immediately ordered Sullivan to lay a trap, set up a 
reverse slope ambush on high ground, and shifted reinforcements under Maj. Gen. Nathanael 
Greene from positions facing Knyphausen to extend Sullivan’s line. Cornwallis and Howe moved 
slowly, preventing the British plan from working as intended; ironically, that very slowness 
worked to their advantage. Because the Americans lacked iron discipline, they kept creeping up 
to the crest of their ridge to look for the British. Alert scouts, mostly Hessian jaegers (woodsmen 
armed with rifles), noted the movement; and Howe avoided walking into the trap.  

What followed was one of the most intense battles of the war. In a series of five separate 
attacks, the British drove Sullivan off the high ground in some confusion. General Greene with 
two brigades of Virginians allowed Sullivan’s men to fall back through their lines and then 
carried out a valiant rear-guard action lasting until dark. Once he could hear the sounds of the 
fighting, Knyphausen drove across the ford and struck Brig. Gen. Anthony Wayne’s defenses 
that had been weakened by the transfers, forcing the Americans to fall back. Darkness and the 
heavy, bloody fighting left Howe’s men too exhausted to pursue, and the Continental Army 
retired in good order to Chester. However, the way to Philadelphia was now left open to Howe. 
Howe followed his victory at the Brandywine with a series of maneuvers comparable to those he 
had executed in New York and entered Philadelphia with a minimum of fighting on September 
26. A combined attack of British Army and Navy forces shortly afterward reduced the forts on 
the Delaware and opened the river as a British supply line. 

Slide #31: The Battle of Germantown 

The Battle of Germantown 

On entering Philadelphia, Howe dispersed his forces, stationing 9,000 men at Germantown, 
north of the city; 3,000 in New Jersey; and the rest in Philadelphia. As Howe had repeated his 
performance in New York, Washington sought to repeat Trenton by a surprise attack on 
Germantown. The plan was much like that he used at Trenton but involved far more complicated 
movements by much larger bodies of troops. Four columns (two assault forces of continentals 
under Sullivan and Greene and two flank security forces of militia), moving at night over different 
roads, were to converge simultaneously on Germantown at dawn on October 4.  The plan 
violated the principle of simplicity, for such a maneuver would have been difficult even for 
well-trained professionals to execute. The two columns of continentals arrived at different times 
and fired on each other in an early morning fog. Despite losing the element of surprise, the 
Americans drove forward and smashed two elite battalions of British light infantry.  

Initial success rapidly turned to disappointment. Part of a British regiment took cover in 
Cliveden, the Chew family mansion, and opened a galling fire on Americans attempting to move 
up or join the advance. Instead of isolating and bypassing this annoyance, the inexperienced 
American generals held up a large portion of the Maryland Division while they argued whether 
they could leave a “fortress” in their rear. The British, though surprised, had better discipline and 
cohesion and were able to re-form and send fresh troops into the fray. Once Washington 



realized that he had lost the chance for a decisive victory, he wisely chose to avoid risking his 
army and broke contact.  The Americans retreated about 8:00 a.m., leaving Howe’s troops in 
command of the field. 

After Germantown Howe once again concentrated his army and moved to confront Washington 
at Whitemarsh, hoping to lure the Virginian into a rash attack. The ploy failed, so he withdrew to 
winter quarters in Philadelphia without giving battle. Washington chose the site for his own 
winter quarters at a place called Valley Forge, twenty miles northwest of the city. Howe had 
gained his objective, but it proved of no lasting value to him. Congress fled west to York, 
Pennsylvania. No swarms of loyalists rallied to the British standards. And Howe had left 
Burgoyne to lose a whole British army in the north. 

Slide #32: Burgoyne’s Advance 

Burgoyne’s Advance 

Burgoyne set out from Canada in June, his object to reach Albany by fall. His force was divided 
into two parts. The first and largest part (7,200 British and Hessian regulars and 650 Tories, 
Canadians, and Indians under his personal command) was to take the route down Lake 
Champlain to Ticonderoga and thence via Lake George to the Hudson. The second (700 
regulars and 1,000 Tories and Indians under Col. Barry St. Leger) was to move via Lake Ontario 
to Oswego and thence down the Mohawk Valley to join Burgoyne before Albany. In his 
preparations, Burgoyne evidently forgot the lesson the British had learned in the French and 
Indian War: In the wilderness, troops had to be prepared to travel light and fight like Indians. He 
carried 138 pieces of artillery and a heavy load of officers’ personal baggage. Numerous ladies 
of high and low estate accompanied the expedition. When he started down the lakes, Burgoyne 
did not have enough horses and wagons to transport his artillery and baggage once he had to 
leave the water and move overland. 

At first Burgoyne’s American opposition was very weak: only about 2,500 continentals at 
Ticonderoga and about 450 at old Fort Stanwix, the sole American bulwark in the Mohawk 
Valley. Dissension among the Americans was rife; the New Englanders refused to support 
Schuyler, the aristocratic New Yorker who commanded the Northern Army, and openly intrigued 
to replace him with their own favorite, Maj. Gen. Horatio Gates. Ticonderoga fell to Burgoyne on 
June 27 all too easily. The American forces dispersed, and Burgoyne pursued the remnants 
down to Skenesborough. Once that far along, he decided to continue overland to the Hudson 
instead of returning to Ticonderoga to float his force down Lake George, though much of his 
impedimenta still had to be carried by boat down the lake. 

The overland line of advance was already a nightmare, running along wilderness trails, through 
marshes, and across wide ravines and creeks swollen by abnormally heavy rains. Schuyler, who 
had wrestled with supply problems during the French and Indian Wars on this very ground, 
adopted the tactic of making it even worse by destroying bridges, felling trees into Burgoyne’s 
path, and digging trenches to let the waters of swamps onto drier ground. The British were able 
to move at a rate of little more than a mile a day and took until July 29 to reach Fort Edward on 
the Hudson. By that time Burgoyne was desperately short of horses, wagons, and oxen. Yet 



Schuyler, with an unstable force of 4,500 men discouraged by continual retreats, was in no 
position to give battle. 

Washington did what he could to strengthen the Northern Army at this juncture. He first 
dispatched Maj. Gen. Benedict Arnold, his most aggressive field commander, and Maj. Gen. 
Benjamin Lincoln, a Massachusetts man noted for his influence with the New England militia. 
On August 16 he detached Col. Daniel Morgan with 500 riflemen from the main army in 
Pennsylvania and ordered them along with 750 men from Putnam’s force in the New York 
highlands to join Schuyler. The riflemen were calculated to furnish an antidote for Burgoyne’s 
Indians who despite his efforts to restrain them were terrorizing the countryside. 

After Freeman’s Farm, the lines remained stable for three weeks. Burgoyne had heard that 
Clinton, with the force Howe had left in New York, had started north to relieve him. Clinton in fact 
had finally received reinforcements from Europe and launched a lightning strike against 
Putnam’s weakened Highlands Department. The British stormed Forts Clinton and Montgomery 
on the Hudson on October 6 and forced a path through the mountains. Clinton could not do 
more because he received explicit orders from Howe to send the reinforcements on to 
Philadelphia. He took a chance and sent out a small diversion to Kingston but returned to New 
York when that probe indicated it could do nothing of value. 

Burgoyne was left to his fate. Gates strengthened his entrenchments and calmly awaited the 
attack he was sure Burgoyne would have to make. Militia reinforcements increased his forces to 
around 10,000 by October 7. Meanwhile, Burgoyne’s position grew more desperate. Unable to 
hold his supply line open, Burgoyne faced a choice. He could cut his losses and fall back toward 
Canada and safety, or he could stay and fight. He chose to stay and fight in hopes of defeating 
the army in front of him and pushing on to Albany. Food was running out; the animals had 
grazed the meadows bare; and every day more men slipped into the forest, deserting the lost 
cause. With little intelligence of American strength or dispositions, on October 7 Burgoyne sent 
out a reconnaissance in force to feel out the American positions. On learning that the British 
were approaching, Gates sent out a contingent including Morgan’s riflemen to meet them; a 
second battle developed, usually known as Bemis Heights or the Second Battle of Freeman’s 
Farm. Although Gates intended to fight a cautious, defensive battle, he lost control of his own 
men. Arnold, an open supporter of Schuyler and critic of the cautious Gates, had been placed 
under house arrest for insubordination. When Arnold learned of Burgoyne’s probe, he 
impetuously broke arrest and rushed into the fray, distinguishing himself before he was 
wounded in leading an attack on Breymann’s Redoubt. The British suffered severe losses, five 
times those of the Americans, and were driven back to their fortified positions.  

Two days after the battle, Burgoyne withdrew to a position in the vicinity of Saratoga. Militia 
soon worked around to his rear and hemmed him in from the north as well. His position 
hopeless, Burgoyne finally capitulated on October 17 at Saratoga. The total prisoner count was 
nearly 6,000, and great quantities of military stores fell into American hands. The victory at 
Saratoga brought the Americans out well ahead in the campaign of 1777 despite the loss of 
Philadelphia. What had been at stake soon became obvious. In February 1778 France 
negotiated a treaty of alliance with the American states, tantamount to a declaration of war 
against England. 



Slide #33: Final Engagements 

Attack on Savannah 

The siege of Savannah or the Second Battle of Savannah was an encounter of the American 
Revolutionary War (1775-1783), in 1779. The year before, the city of Savannah, Georgia, had 
been captured by a British expeditionary corps under Lieutenant-Colonel Archibald Campbell. 
The siege itself consisted of a joint Franco-American attempt to retake Savannah, from 
September 16 to October 18, 1779. On October 9 a major assault against the British siege 
works failed. During the attack, Polish nobleman Count Casimir Pulaski, leading the combined 
cavalry forces on the American side, was mortally wounded. With the failure of the joint attack, 
the siege was abandoned, and the British remained in control of Savannah until July 1782, near 
the end of the war. 

Attack on Charleston 

The siege of Charleston was a major engagement and major British victory, fought between 
March 29 to May 12, 1780, during the American Revolutionary War. The British, following the 
collapse of their northern strategy in late 1777 and their withdrawal from Philadelphia in 1778, 
shifted their focus to the American Southern Colonies.  After approximately six weeks of siege, 
Major General Benjamin Lincoln, commanding the Charleston garrison, surrendered his forces 
to the British. It was one of the worst American defeats of the war. The British captured some 
5,266 prisoners, 311 artillery pieces, 9,178 artillery rounds, 5,916 muskets, 33,000 rounds of 
ammunition, 15 Regimental colors, 49 ships and 120 boats, plus 376 barrels of flour, and large 
magazines of rum, rice and indigo. Following the surrender, the captured ordnance was brought 
to a powder magazine. A Hessian officer warned that some of the guns might still be loaded, but 
he was ignored. One prematurely fired, detonating 180 barrels of powder, further discharging 
5,000 muskets in the magazine. The accident killed approximately 200 people and destroyed six 
houses. 

Slide #34: The Battle of Cowpens 

The Battle of Cowpens 

On January 17, 1781, Tarleton caught up with Morgan west of King’s Mountain at a place called 
the Cowpens, an area of open forest near the Broad River.  Morgan chose this site to make his 
stand less by design than by necessity, for he had intended to get across the Broad. 
Nevertheless, on ground seemingly better suited to the action of regulars, he achieved a little 
tactical masterpiece, making the most effective use of his heterogeneous force, numerically 
equal to that of Tarleton but composed of three-fourths militia. Selecting a low hill as the center 
of his position, he placed his Continental infantry on it, deliberately leaving his flanks open. In 
front of the main line he posted militia infantry in two lines, instructing the first line to fire two 
volleys and then fall back on the second, the combined line to fire until the British pressed them, 
then to fall back to the rear of the continentals and re-form as a reserve. He placed Lt. Col. 
William Washington’s cavalry detachment behind the hill, ready to charge the attacking enemy 
at the critical moment. Every man in the ranks was informed of the plan of battle and the part he 
was expected to play in it. 



On finding Morgan, Tarleton ordered an immediate attack. His men moved forward in regular 
formation and were momentarily checked by the militia rifles; but, taking the retreat of the first 
two lines to be the beginning of a rout, Tarleton’s men rushed headlong into the steady fire of 
the continentals on the hill. When the British were well advanced, the American cavalry struck 
them on the right flank, broke met of the Romans by a Carthaginian army under Hannibal at 
Cannae in 216 b.c., an event of which Morgan, no reader of books, probably had not the 
foggiest notion. But it was a clever use of the terrain and troops by one of the American Army’s 
most intuitive and inspirational commanders. The British cavalry, and then wheeled on the 
infantry. The militia, having re-formed, charged out from behind the hill to hit the British left. 
Caught in a classic double envelopment, the British surrendered after suffering heavy losses. 
Tarleton managed to escape with only a small force of cavalry he had held in reserve. It was on 
a small scale and with certain significant differences a repetition of the classic double envelop. 

Slide #36: Yorktown 

Rochambeau brought his 4,000 troops down from Newport and placed them under 
Washington’s command. The prospects were still bleak, since the combined Franco-American 
regular force numbered but 10,000 and would still be outnumbered by Clinton’s 17,000 in 
well-fortified positions. Then on August 14 Washington learned that the French Fleet in the West 
Indies, commanded by Admiral Francois de Grasse, would not come to New York but would 
arrive in the Chesapeake later in the month and remain there until October 15. He saw 
immediately that if he could achieve a superior concentration of force on the land side while de 
Grasse still held the bay, he could destroy the British army at Yorktown before Clinton had a 
chance to relieve it. 

The movements that followed illustrate most effectively a successful application of the principles 
of the offensive, surprise, objective, mass, and maneuver. Even without unified command of 
Army and Navy forces, Franco-American cooperation this time was excellent. Admiral Louis, the 
Comte de Barras, immediately put out to sea from Newport to join de Grasse. Washington sent 
orders to Lafayette to contain Cornwallis at Yorktown. Employing an elaborate deception to 
convince Clinton that the Americans were about to attack New York, on August 21 Washington 
started the major portion of the Franco-American army on a rapid secret movement to Virginia 
via the Chesapeake Bay, leaving only 2,000 Americans under General Heath behind to watch 
Clinton. 

On August 30, while Washington was on the move south, de Grasse arrived in the Chesapeake 
with his entire fleet of twenty-four ships of the line and a few days later debarked 3,000 French 
troops to join Lafayette. Admiral Thomas Graves, the British naval commander in New York, 
meanwhile had put out to sea in late August with nineteen ships of the line, hoping either to 
intercept Barras’ squadron or to block de Grasse’s entry into the Chesapeake. He failed to find 
Barras; and when he arrived off Hampton Roads on September 5, he found de Grasse already 
in the bay. The French admiral sallied forth to meet Graves, and the two fleets fought an 
indecisive action off the Virginia capes. Yet for all practical purposes the victory lay with the 
French, for while the fleets maneuvered at sea for days following the battle, Barras’ squadron 
slipped into the Chesapeake and landed heavy artillery for the siege. Then de Grasse got back 



into the bay and joined Barras, confronting Graves with so superior a naval force that he 
decided to return to New York to refit. 

When Washington’s army arrived at Williamsburg on September 26, the French Fleet was in 
firm control of the bay, blocking Cornwallis’ sea route of escape. A decisive concentration had 
been achieved. Counting 3,000 Virginia militiamen, Washington had a force of over 9,000 
Americans and 6,000 French troops with which to conduct the siege. It proceeded in the best 
traditions of Marshal Sebastien Vauban under the direction of French engineers. Cornwallis 
obligingly abandoned his forward position on September 30, and on October 6 the first parallel 
was begun 600 yards from the main British position. Artillery placed along the trench began its 
destructive work on October 9. By October 11 the zigzag connecting trench had been dug 300 
yards forward and work on the second parallel had begun. Two British redoubts needed to be 
reduced to extend the line to the York River.  

Washington brilliantly carried out that action by using a surprise attack at bayonet point just after 
dark: Americans under Lafayette took Redoubt 10; and Frenchmen under Lafayette’s 
brother-in-law, the Viscount Louis-Marie Noailles, secured Redoubt 9. This accomplished, 
Cornwallis’ only recourse was a desperate attempt to escape across the river to Gloucester 
Point, where the allied line was thinly held. A storm on the night of October 16 frustrated his 
attempt to do so, leaving him with no hope except relief from New York. Clinton had been 
considering such relief for days, but he acted too late. On the very day, October 17, that Admiral 
Graves set sail from New York with a reinforced fleet and 7,000 troops for the relief of Yorktown, 
Cornwallis began negotiations on terms of surrender. On October 19 his entire army marched 
out to lay down its arms with the British band playing an old tune, “The World Turned Upside 
Down.” So far as active campaigning was concerned Yorktown ended the war, though neither 
side realized it at the time. Both Greene and Washington maintained their armies in positions 
near New York and Charleston for nearly two years more, but with only some minor skirmishing 
in the south. Cornwallis’ defeat led to the resignation of the British Cabinet and the formation of 
a new government that decided the war in America was lost. With some success, Britain 
devoted its energies to trying to salvage what it could in the West Indies and in India. The 
independence for which Americans had fought thus virtually became a reality when Cornwallis’ 
command marched out of its breached defenses at Yorktown. 

 

 

 

 


